# Destination Casinos in South Florida: Findings of Fact and Recommendations

The Dr. Antonio Jorge Social and Economic Development Council, Miami-Dade County Advisory Board

# ABSTRACT

This presentation intends to share the relevant experience of other cities around the world in dealing with casinos. If destination casinos do come, what are the terms that would be best for the people of Miami-Dade County and the State of Florida?

Destination casinos attract visitors from outside of the locality where they are located. Only about 15% of the gamblers in casinos in Atlantic City and Las Vegas are local residents, but 83% of the gamblers on riverboats in Illinois are local.

South Florida already has casinos directed toward local people. The current debate is about destination casinos that would attract affluent tourists.

This document does not take any position regarding whether we should have destination casinos or not, but we want to show what the consequences might be for allowing the new forms of gambling.

May 25, 2013

# The Members of The Dr. Antonio Jorge Social and Economic Development Council, 2012

Raul Moncarz, PhD

Chairman, Professor (Emeritus) and Vice-Provost FIU (retired)

Maria Dolores Espino, PhD Vice-Chairwoman, Professor St. Thomas University

Wilbur Bascom, PhD. Bascom Consulting, Inc. Nancy Borkowski, PhD. Associate Professor, FIU Rosendo Castillo. President, Castle Capital Finance Corp. Marcos Kerbel. Adjunct Professor of Finance, FIU (former international banker) Kenneth Lipner, PhD. Economics Professor, FIU (retired) Jose Lopez-Calleja, Associate Professor, Miami-Dade College Elisa Moncarz, Professor (Emeritus), FIU German Muños, Professor, Miami-Dade College (retired) Rolando Ochoa, DBA. Adjunct Professor, Nova Southeastern University Pedro Pellet, PhD. Professor, Nova Southeastern University Jesus Permuy, Architect and Urban Planner (retired) Brian Peterson, PhD., Professor, FIU Leonardo Rodriguez, PhD. Professor and Former Dean of the FIU School of Business Roberto Saco. President Aporia Advisors (management advisory) Jorge Salazar-Carrillo, PhD. Professor of Economics, FIU Euniu Suh, PhD. Assistant Professor, School of Hospitality Management, FIU Reinaldo Valdez, Real Estate Broker, Community Relations Board member Bernadette West, PhD. Associate Dean, Strayer University.

## Acknowledgments

This report represents the deliberations of the members of the Social and Economic Development Council that transpired over a period of nearly 18 months, and after reviewing several hundred pages of published articles in newspapers and professional journals on the subject of casinos. Although all members of the Council participated in the drafting or review of preliminary drafts, Professor Peterson took the lead in the research and preparation of this whitepaper. Professor Pedro Pellet and Professor Eunju Suh also deserve special recognition for their work in editing the final draft. We also want to thank Dr. Robert Cruz, and his staff, particularly Mr. Robert Hesler, Ms. Aida Suárez and Ms. Mayda Rescendi for the generous support they provided to the Council on behalf of Miami-Dade County.

This whitepaper could not have been done without the leadership of the Council's founding chairman and distinguished scholar, Dr. Antonio Jorge who passed away in February of 2012. He is sorely missed by members of the Council and those who knew him as a teacher, mentor, university colleague, and friend.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	CURRENT GAMBLING IN MIAMI-DADE AND BROWARD	2
III.	HISTORICAL BACKGROUND ON CASINOS IN LAS VEGAS, ATLANTIC CITY, MISSISSIPPI, MACAU SINGAPORE, AND IMPLICATIONS FOR MIAMI	2
IV.	COMPARATIVE DEMOGRAPHICS: DADE, BROWARD, LAS VEGAS AND ATLANTIC CITY	10
V.	COMPARATIVE GAMBLING REVENUES: FLORIDA, DADE, BROWARD, LAS VEGAS AND ATLANTIC CITY	14
VI.	IMPACT OF DESTINATION CASINOS ON EMPLOYMENT, UNION JOBS AND WORKER COMPENSATION	15
VII.	ESTIMATES OF THE SIZE OF THE ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC IMPACT OF DESTINATION CASINOS ON DADE AND BROWARD	16
VIII.	COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS OF CASINOS: IN VARIOUS STATES	16
IX.	THE IMPACT OF THE RECESSION OF 2007-2008 ON CASINO REVENUES IN LAS VEGAS AND ATLANTIC CITY	17
X.	EXPLOITATION OF THE POOR	18
XI.	HELPING LOCAL PEOPLE THROUGH CASINO REVENUES AND EMPLOYMENT	18
XII.	GAMBLING ADDICTION	19
XIII.	PERSONAL BANKRUPTCY AND CASINOS	19
XIV.	COMPARING RATES OF PROBLEM GAMBLING FROM ONE GAME TO ANOTHER	20
XV.	CRIME, PROSTITUTION, DRUGS AND CASINOS	21
XVI.	SUICIDE RATES IN LAS VEGAS AND MIAMI	22
XVII.	WHAT IS THE BEST TAX RATE FOR DESTINATION CASINOS?	23
XVIII.	HOW TO SPEND THE TAX MONEY FROM GAMBLING	23
XIX.	FUTURE COMPETITION IN GAMBLING	24
XX.	RECOMMENDATIONS	24
	BIBLIOGRAPHY	27
	ENDNOTES	34

### I. INTRODUCTION

The Social and Economic Development Council of Miami-Dade County, an official advisory board to the County Commission, would like to advance the community-wide discussion of the potential benefits and liabilities of large-scale casino gambling for our county and state.

This document does not take any positions regarding whether we should have destination casinos or not, but we want to show what the consequences might be for allowing the new forms of gambling.

Destination casinos attract visitors from outside of the locality where they are located. Only about 15% of the gamblers in casinos in Atlantic City and Las Vegas are local residents, but 83% of the gamblers on riverboats in Illinois are local. <sup>1</sup> South Florida already has casinos directed toward local people. The debate is about destination casinos which would attract affluent tourists.

The present study intends to share the relevant experience of other cities around the world in dealing with casinos. If casinos do come, what are the terms which would be best for the people of Miami-Dade County and the State of Florida?

Here are the obvious benefits and drawbacks of destination casinos:

### A PRIORI BENEFITS:

1. Overall net increase in local employment with particular emphasis on training and hiring local people, particularly low-income Blacks and Hispanics.

2. Growth of tourism in both number of visitors and amount spent.

3. Large-scale construction spending with accompanying increase in employment.

4. Making Miami more of a "world city" with tourists from areas of the globe that we are not currently reaching, particularly China. This could possibly lead to new business connections with China and other parts of the world.

5. Possible new business connections to areas such as China which might send many new tourists to Miami.

6. Higher property values.

7. Bringing more money to the state which can be taxed and reinvested in ways which create more economic diversity and bring in more well-paid jobs.

8. Increased employment in many local businesses serving the casinos, such as vendors and suppliers.

### A PRIORI DRAWBACKS:

1. Replacement of moral values focusing on hard work and savings with a get-rich-quick-through-luck mentality.

2. Encouragement of young people to drop out of high school to take jobs in tourist businesses.

3. Displacement of existing local businesses, tourist attractions, music venues and museums. We believe that there would be a net increase in tourist spending in South Florida with destination casinos, but it is obvious that some existing businesses could lose out.

4. Some jobs will go to outsiders, and companies owned by outsiders will dominate the market. Most of the destination casinos will be owned by outsiders, if destination casinos come, we would like some large, locally-owned hotel-resorts to become destination casinos.

5. Increases in problem gambling, crime, substance abuse, prostitution, personal bankruptcies, and suicides. We note that these problems increase with any sort of tourism, with population growth, and with high levels of mobility to and from a city.

6. Possible over-concentration of the local economy on tourism and gambling which can make our population poorer because of the relatively low wages in this economic sector. On the other hand, destination casinos and their wider economic impact would create many new jobs which are better than unemployment or part-time work.

7. The more dependent we are on tourism and gambling, the more we get hurt in business downturns.

8. Increased traffic congestion, particularly if destination casinos are located in Downtown Miami and on Miami Beach.

9. A danger of money laundering which could help to undermine the respect for the law in our community.

#### **II. CURRENT GAMBLING IN MIAMI-DADE AND BROWARD COUNTIES**

Racinos are non-Indian (Native American) casinos attached to pari-mutuels, including horse and dog tracks and jai-alai frontons, which are not owned by American Indians. Racinos in Florida have games including poker, blackjack, baccarat and slot machines, but not roulette or craps. (Video versions of roulette and craps are permitted.) Pari-mutuels are gambling establishments where the winners share the pot rather than bet against the house. Racinos as pari-mutuels have pots which are limited by the amount put in by players. The racinos in Dade and Broward paid \$125 million to the State of Florida in taxes on their slot machines operations in 2010-11.<sup>2</sup>

The State of Florida has an agreement with the Seminole Tribe that the Seminoles will pay the state a minimum of \$1 billion over the next five years if the state does not authorize other casinos to add certain games over which the Seminoles will have exclusive rights, including blackjack. The Seminoles are not allowed to offer roulette or craps under this agreement. All Seminole payments to the state would cease if the state authorizes casinos outside Miami-Dade and Broward. Seminole payments to the state would be reduced by half if the state allows additional games in non-Indian Dade and Broward casinos. Federal law says that Indian casinos are allowed to offer all gambling games which are legal in non-Indian casinos in a state.<sup>3</sup>

### III. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND ON CASINOS IN LAS VEGAS, ATLANTIC CITY, MISSISSIPPI, MACAU AND SINGAPORE AND IMPLICATIONS FOR MIAMI

Many argue against destination casinos in Florida on the basis of the experience of other states and countries. Historical accuracy requires us to understand that the domination of Las Vegas casinos by organized crime that existed fifty years ago is no longer the case. Casinos in Atlantic City have also been free of mob control for the past thirty years, at least. Singapore has had casinos only briefly, but reports suggest that organized crime is not a factor in their casinos. Macao, on the other hand, does seem to have organized crime (triad gangsters) involvement and extensive money laundering for capital coming out of China. We believe that destination casinos in Florida could be closely regulated on the model of Las Vegas, Atlantic City and Singapore so that organized crime control and money laundering could be almost nonexistent.

### LAS VEGAS

The city of Las Vegas was founded in 1905, and casinos were legalized there in 1931. Gambling was widespread in Los Angeles until 1938 when reformers banned it and persistently raided gambling establishments. Many Los Angeles gambling companies moved to Las Vegas as a result.

The first major casino-resort on the Las Vegas Strip just outside the city limits was the Flamingo Hotel which opened in 1946 and was owned by Meyer Lansky and Bugsy Siegel. Some banks from Phoenix and Salt Lake City invested in the Flamingo Hotel and not all of the money came from organized crime. Lansky was never listed as the owner of any Las Vegas casino, but he had a secret share in many of them. The 1950 Kefauver hearings on organized crime pointed to the problem of gangster control of Las Vegas casinos.

From the 1940s to the 1960s, organized crime and the unions that they controlled provided the capital to build large casino-resorts in Las Vegas. Mainstream banks were reluctant to invest in what was considered a shady enterprise, although some funds did come from regular banks.

The state of Nevada began to take action to drive gangsters out of their control over casinos. The Gaming Control Board was established by the state of Nevada in 1955, and new rules were imposed on the casinos. No corporations could own casinos, and each operator must be licensed. In 1959, a Citizens' Commission was established by the state of Nevada to license participants in the gaming industry and to oversee the work of the Gaming Control Board.

Across the nation, a major increase of federal indictments of organized crime figures occurred in the early 1960s, from 49 indictments in 1960 to 615 in 1963. The nation's attitude toward the mob was changing. The previous pattern of looking the other way was ending. However, few of these indictments touched the core group of gangsters in Las Vegas and Miami.

During the early 1960s, many investments were made in Las Vegas casinos and property developments by a pension fund of the Teamsters Union, often in partnership with gangsters. Beginning in 1966, Howard Hughes began investing in Las Vegas casino-resorts, land and a television station, and he opened the way for many more mainstream business people without mob connections. Hughes bought out many casinos which had formerly been controlled by Meyer Lansky. Gangsters continued to operate the casinos owned by Hughes, and they illegally "skimmed" profits for gangsters from the daily take of these casinos. The mob also laundered money from drugs and other criminal activities through the casinos.

New investment money and tighter state control were successful in diminishing the power of gangsters in the industry. In 1967, Nevada required all of the stockholders in casino companies to pass background checks. This requirement was helpful in driving out organized crime control of the casinos and paving the way for mainstream companies to

invest. Arizona developer Del Webb bought casinos in Las Vegas in the 1960s, with some of the capital borrowed from Lehman Brothers, a Wall Street investment bank. In 1970, the Howard Hughes organization dramatically changed its style of business in Las Vegas and pushed out those who had been cooperating with gangsters on running the Hughes-owned casinos. That was the end of mob skimming from the Hughes-owned casinos.

In 1973, Steve Wynn bought the Gold Nugget casino from a gangster who was being blacklisted by Nevada gaming authorities. Wynn eventually became one of the biggest casino owners in Las Vegas. Wynn also owned a bingo hall in Maryland, and this was the first time that a person was allowed by Nevada to own a casino in Nevada and a gambling enterprise outside the state. In the 1980, Drexel Burnham Lambert, a Wall Street investment bank, came to dominate casino financing in Nevada through junk bonds, and they invested \$2.6 billion, among other places in Steve Wynn's Mirage resort.

Between 1980 and 1983, Joseph Yablonksy was the Special Agent in Charge for the FBI in Las Vegas, and he was much more aggressive in prosecuting mobsters in the casino industry than any previous FBI local leader in Las Vegas had been. He brought dozens of cases, and all but two resulted in convictions. Yablonsky was effective in pushing mob control out of many casinos in Las Vegas. William H. Webster, the national FBI director, protected Yablonsky against heavy political pressure to cease his investigations. The Reagan administration decided to back law and order for a time, whereas previous administrations had opposed cleaning up Las Vegas organized crime, but in 1983 the Reagan administration put in a new U.S. Attorney for Southern Nevada who pushed out Yablonsky. Nevertheless, mob control did not return. Yablonsky had been successful in turning the corner on gangster domination of the industry. Since 1980, however, there have been no big scandals involving Las Vegas casinos with regard to control by organized crime or extensive money laundering.

Just recently, suggestions have been made that some Chinese-related money laundering might be going on.<sup>4</sup> Since destination resort casinos in Miami might attract many Chinese customers, this is a concern for us. We would like to see Las Vegas demonstrating that Chinese money laundering can be stopped in casinos on American soil.

From 1980 on, Las Vegas casinos were actively lobbying in many states to establish legalized casinos, and they set up branch casinos across the country. The end of mob control opened up many new possibilities for expansion.

During the 1990s, Las Vegas became the top tourist destination in the world and outstripped Mecca as the most visited place in the world in 1999. Fifty million people a year came to Las Vegas. Over half of the people of the United States have visited Las Vegas. Las Vegas now has more hotel/motel rooms than any other American city, and twice as many as New York City. No other city has so many music, comedy and magic shows. All

sorts of family-oriented entertainment, including theme parks, were added for children during the 1990s. A significant number of tourists in Las Vegas gamble very little, but enjoy seeing all of the sights and shows. Las Vegas now makes more money off of tourist expenditures other than gambling itself. This might be even more the case in Miami because we have so many more natural and cultural attractions than Las Vegas.

For decades, the Las Vegas casino industry, including gambling, hotels and restaurants, has been unionized, and good training programs have been created to help workers rise in skill and income. Casino workers there are now largely Hispanics. One union in Las Vegas, Culinary Local 226 has organized 90% of the casino-hotel-restaurant workers on the Strip. The resurgence of the union began in 1984 with a citywide strike for better health insurance. After a tough fight, the union won, but they lost six casinos to decertification and four more to illegal repudiations of the contract.

In 1989, the new union leader, John Wilhelm, made a deal with Steve Wynn which simplified job classifications in exchange for organizing rights at future casinos to be built by Wynn. The Culinary came back with a series of tough strikes in the 1990s, including a strike at the Frontier Casino which lasted from 1991 until 1998. (Circus Circus casino which was unionized was nice enough to feed the picketers at the Frontier.)

Maids in unionized hotels on the Las Vegas Strip make 50% higher incomes than do unorganized maids in Reno and in addition have full health insurance. Union and management in the Las Vegas casinos, hotels and restaurants have cooperated to create an elaborate training program. Unskilled hospitality workers can learn new skills and move up to higher-paid positions.

In 2003, Las Vegas was described as "the only city in the land where service-sector workers in supposedly dead-end jobs can afford to buy homes, retire securely and put their kids through college."<sup>5&6</sup> In spite of high unemployment most recently, those Las Vegas workers in unionized jobs still enjoy wages and benefits which are far superior to those of Miami workers in the service sector.

Sheldon Adelson's casinos in Las Vegas are not unionized, and Adelson has been successful in keeping out unions there because he gives the same wages and benefits to his workers that unionized workers get at other casinos.<sup>7</sup>

The economy of Las Vegas has suffered more from the recession of 2007-08 than that of any other large city of the United States. Their unemployment rate grew from 4.7% in January, 2007 to 13.1% in January, 2012.<sup>8</sup> Las Vegas and Nevada have also had among the highest foreclosure rates and the largest drops in home prices in the nation, although Florida and California have been close competitors. <sup>9</sup> Las Vegas is more dependent on tourism than any other large city in the nation. Tourism is a volatile industry because

recreational travel is a discretionary expense which can be set aside by families during hard time. It would not be good for Miami's economy to become overly dependent on one volatile industry.

### ATLANTIC CITY

Atlantic City has been a tourist town since the 19<sup>th</sup> century. Blacks have always made up a high percentage of the manual workers in the tourist industry there – most notably the men who pushed rolling chairs down the Boardwalk. Blacks were not welcome in Atlantic City as tourists until the 1960s, and as soon as the blacks came, many white tourists left. Also, many whites moved out of the city during the 1960 s and thereafter. Today, many of the workers in the casinos are African-American, but most of the casino workers now live outside the city in suburban or rural areas or other seaside towns.

The casinos did not cause Atlantic City to become a low-income, mostly-black city. This was already the case when casinos arrived in 1970. However, the casinos have not caused Atlantic City to be redeveloped and to add lots of good-quality housing. In fact, Atlantic City lacks major grocery stores or department stores. People who live there have to go to suburban areas to shop.

A majority of the workers in Atlantic City casinos have not gone beyond high school, but unemployment remains persistently high in Atlantic City. High school graduation rates in Atlantic City are 15% lower than the state's average, and Las Vegas has about the highest high school dropout rates of any big city in the United States. High-school dropouts can easily get relatively good jobs in the tourist industry.

The casinos of Atlantic City have unionized hotel, restaurant and gambling workers who get better wages and higher tips than workers in other hotels, restaurants and gambling establishments across the state. Hotel-casinos on average have higher wages than hotels which are not casinos.

The Borgata Casino set up a training facility for local residents in 2003 and trained and placed in jobs 2,100 workers by 2007. Average wages in the hospitality industry in Atlantic County were \$28,840 per year in 2004, including tips, but this was lower than average wages in many other local industries, including manufacturing, education, construction and business services. The wages were higher than for hospitality jobs in the state as a whole.

Atlantic City requires casinos to pay 1.25% of revenues for local housing and infrastructure, and this produced \$435 million over the first twenty years. Casinos pay 70% of the local property taxes in Atlantic City, and they paid state and local government \$7 billion in taxes between 1978 and 1997. The population of Atlantic City is in decline. The peak was in 1930 at 66,000. In 1970, it was 48,000, but in 1990 only 38,000. More people

worked in the casinos in 1990 than lived in the city. Most casino workers commute from nearby rural, suburban and seaside communities.

Of the 16,000 residents of Atlantic City with jobs, over 10,000 work in the casinos. Atlantic City is getting smaller and poorer, while the nearby areas are getting larger and richer. Atlantic City casinos engage in affirmative action to hire minorities, and 25% of their employees in 1997 were minorities. They are also sensitive to hiring local residents. However, far fewer black men have jobs in Atlantic City casinos than women. People with police records or who fail drug tests cannot work in casinos, and this excludes many local people.

Casinos in Atlantic City hire far more African-Americans in decent jobs than was true for the hospitality industry there before casinos. More possibilities exist for upward mobility through job training than previously. <sup>10</sup> This might also be the case in Miami. Big casinos in Miami are likely to offer blacks far more well-paid jobs and training programs than do existing hotels, restaurants and gambling establishments today. Big casinos have to be more careful of their national reputation than do small, local casinos. Big casinos are more vulnerable to boycott campaigns by civil rights organizations than are small casinos.

Like Las Vegas, Atlantic City was hit hard by the recession which began at the end of 2007. Today, the unemployment rate in Atlantic County, New Jersey is 12.8% -- the second highest of any county in the state.<sup>11</sup> Over-dependence on tourism and gambling makes cities vulnerable to economic downturns.

### TUNICA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

This county is located on the Mississippi River in the northwest area of the state in what is called "the Mississippi Delta" flat, river-bottom land that is very fertile and mostly used to cultivate cotton. Gambling here is exclusively on river boats, but these are moored to shore and never move. The benefits of casinos to the low-income Black people who make up the majority of the Tunica County population have been significant. The percentage of the population on food stamps has declined from 54% in 1990 to 24% in 1997.

Some 14,000 people are employed by the nine local casinos, while the county's population is only 8,000. Unemployment rates dropped from 26% in January, 1992 to 5% by July, 1992 when the casinos had hired their first employees. Unemployment declined when the casinos came in, but rose again by 2009 with the recession – 14% in 1990, down to a low of 5% in 2000 and back up to 15% in 2009.

As of the year 2000, Tunica was the third largest gambling destination in the country, following Las Vegas and Atlantic City, and today they are still the fifth-largest. As many as 14 million visitors per year come to Tunica for gambling, and the county has gained \$40

million a year in tax revenues. Many new hotels, restaurants and condominiums have been built in the county in connection with the casinos. The casinos are not monopolizing all of the business. Home prices have gone up. Average incomes in the county rose from \$14,600 in 1991 to \$17,200 in 2002.

The percentage of young people graduating from high school has increased from 33% before casinos to 87% recently. The casinos provide scholarships for some local youths to attend college. This is very different from the experience of Las Vegas where school dropouts are the highest for any large city in the nation. However, Tunica casinos are not unionized.

The overall evidence from Tunica County indicates substantial benefits to the local, lowincome, Black population from casinos, even though many of the best jobs went to outsiders.<sup>12</sup>

### <u>MACAU</u>

Macau has the highest amount of money spent on gambling of any city in the world, with revenues greater than those of all of the casinos in Europe, Latin American, the Middle East and Africa combined. Revenues from gambling in Macau are twice as large as those from Las Vegas and Atlantic City combined. However, much of this Macau money is never gambled at all, but is actually money laundering for capital leaving China illegally. Today, however, it appears that the People's Republic of China and the casinos companies are cracking down on money laundering in Macao.<sup>13</sup>

Macau was a colony of Portugal until 1999. Under the Portuguese, Macau had many "fan tan houses" – a game like roulette. In 1937, the city created a casino monopoly. In 1962, another company established by Hong Kong and Macau business people was given a monopoly on all forms of gambling. After joining the People's Republic of China – but with a special legal status, like Hong Kong -- the government in 2002 allowed several different private casino companies to operate. These included the American companies, Wynn Resorts and Las Vegas Sands, which are interested in coming to Florida.

The casinos in Macau pay taxes of 35% of gross revenue. This allows taxes on individuals and other businesses to be very low. The total income of Macau casinos in 2009 was \$13.7 billion. About 90% of the gamblers in Macau are from China, and about 90% of their gambling is done on credit. Most of the gambling takes place in the VIP rooms of the casinos. To a considerable extent, the casinos are operating at arm's length from the actual money laundering because they are loaning money to the junkets (tour operators) and the junkets are loaning money to the gamblers.

Gambling is not legal in China, and gambling debts cannot be enforced under Chinese law. Consequently, the casino companies could not loan money to Chinese citizens with any degree of assurance that they would be repaid after their customers returned to China. When the Chinese customer returns to China, he repays the junket operator for what he borrowed. If he does not repay, he might meet with violence at the hands of Triad gangsters working for the junket operator. The junkets often get their capital by borrowing money from the casinos or from organized crime leaders and they pay interest of up to 3% a month -- 43% a year.

Wikileaks disclosed the fact that American officials in China are well aware of these practices. The United States government has asked Macau to strengthen its oversight of the junket operators and to crack down on money laundering.<sup>14</sup>

We could say that the benefits and drawbacks of casinos in Macau are mostly not specific to gambling, but would be true of the rapid expansion of any dominant industry in any city in the world. The quick growth of any industry provides new opportunities for people, but also brings about social dislocation. A consensus now exists in Miami that we do not want overly rapid expansion of destination casinos here. We might or might not want destination casinos, but we definitely do not want them to come in so rapidly that they swamp our economy and our way of life. This has been recognized by prospective casino companies, and they have modified their proposed plans accordingly.

### SINGAPORE

Singapore is a city-state with a population that is mostly of Chinese ancestry. Singapore is a major port, a financial center, the second-largest gambling city in the world, and a major oil refiner. Transparency International rates Singapore as having less corruption than almost any other country in the world, and the Index of Economic Freedom says that it is the second-freest country in the world as far as free enterprise capitalism is concerned, after Hong Kong. Politically, Singapore is not so free. One political party, dominated by one family, father and son, has been in control since Singapore became independent in 1965.

In 2005, Singapore decided to legalize casinos, and the first casinos opened in 2010. Genting built a family-oriented casino, Resorts World Sentosa, with a Universal Studios theme park. Genting invested \$4.5 billion in this casino-development. Six hotels are part of this development. The other Singapore casino – the Marina Bay Sands -- belongs to Sheldon Adelson's Las Vegas Sands Corporation which is a big casino operator in Macau.

At first, Singapore did not allow the junket system because of its associations with money laundering and organized crime, but Singapore has now changed its attitude and will be allowing junkets with special rules which are much stricter than those in effect in Macau. Genting will be using junkets under Singapore rules, while Genting does not operate in Macau. The junkets working with Genting in Singapore will try to attract high rollers to that casino and loan them money. However, the junkets who are working with Genting up to now are not very wealthy and may not be able to loan much money. Genting hopes that the junkets will vet customers in terms of creditworthiness and loan them money so that the casino itself is not stuck with so many bad debts.

Singapore is only licensing two junket companies, and Singapore has very tight regulations. This means that junkets will not be as important in Singapore as they are in Macau – at least for the time being. The two "International Marketing Agents" (IMAs, AKA junkets) authorized by the government of Singapore to work with Genting are Malaysians who currently recruit Southeast Asian customers for the Genting casino in Malaysia. Twelve applicants for IMA licenses were turned down by the government of Singapore. These IMAs are on a tight leash in Singapore. Their license is only for one year at the time. Singapore obviously does not want agents who are involved with the junkets and triads associated with Macau.

In their operations with Genting in Malaysia, these junkets transfer money to Thailand using the services of Indian moneychangers. They have no experience in handling money coming out of China. Singapore does not allow its IMAs to share commissions with unlicensed parties – such as Macau-based junkets. The tighter the rules on junkets in Singapore, the less the total revenues of the casinos – but also the less money laundering. Consequently, Singapore casino revenues are not likely to approximate those of Macau anytime soon. Macau really has a money laundering industry, not truly a gambling industry.

Sheldon Adelson's Las Vegas Sands Corporation is not using junkets under the rules in force in Singapore, although they do operate in Macau and use junkets under the very different rules in force there. The Sands is currently ahead of Genting in Singapore in total revenues, so The Sands has a process which is working well up to now.<sup>15</sup> If Florida had destination casinos, it would be desirable to attract customers from China. The experience of Singapore with junkets can tell us whether this is possible while avoiding money laundering.

### IV. COMPARATIVE DEMOGRAPHICS: DADE, BROWARD, LAS VEGAS, ATLANTIC CITY

South Florida has important demographic differences from Las Vegas and Atlantic City. We are a much larger urban area, and we have far greater economic diversity. Broward had 1.7 million people in 2010, while Miami-Dade had 2.5 million, for a combined total of 4.2 million. Clark County, Nevada, which includes Las Vegas, had 1.7 million people, while Atlantic County, New Jersey, had only 252,000.<sup>16</sup> Many people working in the gambling industry of Atlantic City live outside the county.

	MIAMI- DADE	LAS VEGAS	ATLANTIC CITY	MACAU	SINGAPORE
POPULATION	2.5 million	1.7 million	252,000*	544,000	4.7 million
PER CAPITA INCOME	\$22,619	\$27.395	\$27,364	\$63,681**	\$59,000**
PERCENT POVERTY	17.7%	12.4%	20.9%	17.5%	Not published
GAMBLING	\$300	\$8.9	\$3.6 billion	\$33.5	\$5.1 billion
REVENUES	million***	billion		billion	

#### DEMOGRAPHY AND GAMBLING REVENUES FOR MIAMI AND TOP GAMBLING CITIES

\* Atlantic County, New Jersey.

\*\* The Macau and Singapore income figures are expressed in terms of "purchasing power parity." <sup>17</sup>

\*\*\* Miami gambling revenues are estimated at 20% of the state revenues for all types of gambling. The Florida Lottery represents \$1.2 billion out of \$1.5 billion total gambling revenues statewide.

The per capita income for Miami-Dade County in 2009 was \$22,619; for Broward, \$28,465; for Clark County, Nevada, \$27,395; and for Atlantic County, New Jersey, \$27,364. The median income for a household in Miami-Dade County was \$41,367; for Broward, \$48,772; for Clark County, Nevada, \$53,512; and for Atlantic County, New Jersey, \$51,585. Some 17.7% of the people in Miami-Dade County live below the poverty line; for Broward, 13%; for Clark County, 12.4%; and for Atlantic County, 20.9%.<sup>18</sup> The poverty rate in Atlantic City Metropolitan Statistical Area was 13.0% in 1970 – before gambling – and 10.5% in 2000. In the city of Atlantic City, some 22% lived in poverty in 1970 and 24% in 2000. As of 2000, 64% of the Atlantic City Metropolitan Statistical Area population was white, 12% Hispanic and 17% black. The white population has declined since 1980, while the Hispanic and Asian population has increased.<sup>19</sup>

Average wages in the hospitality industry in Atlantic County were \$28,840 per year in 2004, including tips, but this was lower than average wages in many other local industries, including manufacturing, education, construction and business services. The wages were higher than for hospitality jobs in the state as a whole.<sup>20</sup> In Atlantic City proper, the poverty rate was 23% in 1970 – prior to the opening of the first casino in the city in 1978. In 2000, the poverty rate in the city was 24%. Obviously, casinos have not raised the local population out of poverty.<sup>21</sup> In the leisure and hospitality industry, annual averages wages in Atlantic County were higher than the statewide average (\$28,840 vs. \$20,085) in 2004, but not in any other economic sector.<sup>22</sup>

As of 2005, 8.7% of the total employment in Miami-Dade was in the Leisure and Hospitality sector, including tourism; for Broward, this is 11.2%; for Clark County, 22.0%; and for Atlantic County, 38.7%.<sup>23</sup> The percentage of the population of Las Vegas and Atlantic City which is employed in the gambling industry – or the leisure and hospitality industry – is much higher than that in Dade and Broward.

Given the fact that Dade and Broward counties already have such large populations, casinos here would have to grow enormously before the percentage of our local populations employed in casinos would be as high as in Las Vegas and Atlantic City where they are the overwhelmingly dominant local industry. However, tourism is already a very important industry in South Florida, and destination casinos will make this industry larger. Tourism is highly sensitive to economic ups and downs and has generally modest wages. Greater balance between economic sectors would be good for Miami.

## V. COMPARATIVE GAMBLING REVENUES

In fiscal year 2009-2010, the state of Florida generated the following in revenues from gaming:

- Pari-mutuel wagering taxes and fees: \$16,800,000
- Slots: \$154,800,000
- Card rooms: \$11,400,000
- Seminole Tribe: \$150,000,000
- Lottery \$1,247,000,000
- Total \$1,580,000,000 <sup>24</sup>

Gambling revenues increased in southern Nevada between 1980 and 2010 from \$1.9 billion to \$8.9 billion. The gambling industry has been growing very substantially across the entire nation over the past thirty years.<sup>25</sup>

In 2005, casinos in Atlantic City provided 46,000 jobs and attracted 35 million visitors. <sup>26</sup> Casino revenues in Atlantic City increased from \$134 million in 1978 to \$5.2 billion in 2006 and then receded during and after the recession to \$3.6 billion in 2010.

Casinos in both Las Vegas and Atlantic City have been highly vulnerable to recessions. Some 69% of the revenues of Atlantic City casinos come from slots and 31% from table games.<sup>27</sup> Taxes from Atlantic City casinos go to a special statewide fund which supports senior citizens and people with disabilities. In 2006, casino taxes contributed \$417 million to this fund.<sup>28</sup>

# VI. IMPACT OF DESTINATION CASINOS ON EMPLOYMENT, UNION JOBS AND WORKER COMPENSATION

Right now, we cannot know for certain the impact of developments with very large casinos on local employment. No doubt a considerable number of jobs in existing casinos, hotels, restaurants and shops will be lost.

Given that destination casinos are heavily automated, the number of jobs which they produce may be rather small in comparison to their total revenues. Some argue that the total number of jobs that will be lost may be greater than the number of jobs that are gained. However, considerable evidence exists that there will be a substantial net increase in the number of tourists coming to Miami. Consequently, we expect a net increase in the number of jobs as a result of the new developments – including casinos, hotels, restaurants and shops. It is an open question whether or not the new casino, hotel and restaurant jobs will be unionized.

Both Las Vegas and Atlantic City are mostly unionized, and this does seem to be associated with better pay and benefits. Sheldon Adelson's casinos are not unionized, but he pays salaries and benefits closely resembling those of unionized casinos. Pay and benefits went up sharply in Las Vegas after the union became energetic under new leadership beginning in 1989. The pay of hotel and restaurant workers in Atlantic City is greatly above that of comparable workers in other New Jersey cities that do not have casinos.

It is possible that destination casinos with their accompanying developments (hotels, restaurants, shops, condos) will substantially increase the local middle class because of the creation of unionized jobs. On the other hand, if they are not unionized or if they have corrupt and ineffective unions, their workers might not be much better paid than are current leisure and hospitality workers in Miami-Dade.

An important study on the economic impact of casinos on local regions was done by Thomas A. Garrett of the Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis. He found that three of the four regions in the area served by that bank which added casinos had a net positive growth in employment. One region added few jobs and suffered an overall loss of employment, but this loss might have been greater if the casino had not located there.<sup>29</sup>

Garrett correctly pointed out that the coming of casinos does depress local employment in some other companies or sectors – such as other forms of recreation – but this is only the case if the casinos do not attract large numbers of new tourists to the area. We have every expectation that the total employment in non-casino hotels, restaurants, shops and tourist attractions would greatly increase in Miami if destination casinos attracted large numbers of new, affluent tourists to our city.

# VII. ESTIMATES OF THE SIZE OF THE ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC IMPACT OF DESTINATION CASINOS ON DADE AND BROWARD

Figuring out how much total business the new casinos would do is difficult. If Las Vegas is doing \$9 billion a year in net gambling revenues, then South Florida could not expect to do more than \$3 billion a year even ten years from now. If the tax rate were 10%, that would bring in \$300 million per year to the state which would be offset by perhaps a loss of \$100 million from the Seminoles and Miccosukees and \$35 million from the racinos.

However, if the tax rate were 20%, the state might garner \$600 million per year. The state would also gain in tax money on the construction of the new casinos. <sup>30</sup>

The Genting Company has recently revised the projected future size of its Miami hotels and casinos sharply downward. However, if things went well with their initial development, more floor space might be added to their casinos later.

### VIII. COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS OF CASINOS IN VARIOUS STATES

Contradictory findings exist concerning the cost-benefit analysis of the impact of casino gambling on different states. Our attitude is that South Florida is already experiencing the negative (and positive) effects of casino gambling on the existing local population because of the presence here of racinos and Indian-owned casinos. Adding destination casinos would increase these negative costs, but it might also bring very substantial benefits in the form of new, high-end tourism.

Earl L. Grinols III has written the most authoritative book on the overall impact of gambling in the United States, "Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits," Cambridge University Press, 2004. Grinols found that problem gambling is concentrated among a small group in the population – 2.4% of the people living within fifty miles of casinos. <sup>31</sup> Some 1% of the gamblers make over 50% of the bets.<sup>32</sup>

Gambling becomes the most important lobbying group in states with casinos.<sup>33</sup> We have already seen that big national casino companies with an interest in Florida have become a major lobbying power in our state – but not a strong enough lobbying power to have won yet.

In rural areas, business volume falls among restaurants within 30 miles of a casino. <sup>34</sup> In Miami, our already existing racinos probably do not cut restaurant business even within a one block radius. If fact, some new restaurants have been set up precisely to attract customers of local casinos.

Casinos which serve local markets have not overall long-term impact on the number of jobs. Casinos simply displace other forms of recreation.<sup>35</sup> However, he states that "two-

thirds or more of casino demand should be nonlocal if casinos are going to be engaged in more than redistribution and displacement of local demand. It would certainly be the intention of the state of Florida that over two-thirds of the customers of destination casinos should come from outside the state. Our casinos would be a gigantic failure if this were not true. Las Vegas believes that destination casinos in Miami would take away many of their current customers.

Grinols finds that casinos do not pay well enough to raise wages in the whole market. <sup>36</sup> However, he is not focused here on Las Vegas and Atlantic City which are the only cities that really compare with what Miami might look like with destination casinos. In both cities, the unionized casinos of the past twenty years pay very substantially more than other, comparable tourist and service industries.

In another study, Grinols and others found that new casinos increase the crime rate in states after a lag in time.<sup>37</sup>

Deepak Chhabra published an article in the Journal of Travel Research in 2007 that attempted to calculate the cost-benefit ratio of casino gambling in Iowa. Under costs, he included social problems, bankruptcy, crime, regulation, treatment for gambling addicts and advertising about available treatments. The costs added up to \$449 million for the year of 2004. Under benefits, he included attracting non-local gamblers, taxes, net change in profits, and charitable contributions for a total of \$1,426 billion for 2004. The net benefits amounted to \$978 million for 2004. Benefits outweighed the costs by 3.2 to 1.<sup>38</sup>

Iowa gambling is much more local than destination casinos would be in Miami. They are not getting the kind of big financial boost from destination casinos that Miami would get. On the other hand, Miami's crime rate is already much higher, and casinos will likely push the crime rate even higher. We might not get benefits three times as great as costs, but the total amount of our financial benefits over costs will be much greater than that in Iowa.

# IX. THE IMPACT OF THE RECESSION OF 2007-2008 ON CASINO REVENUES IN LAS VEGAS AND ATLANTIC CITY

It is certainly true that destination casinos are an economically volatile industry – like other aspect of tourism.

	CNT CHANGE 1 <sup>ST</sup> QRTR	FROM YEAR T 2ND QRTR		MBLING REVENUES IN LAS VEGAS 4TH QRTR
2007	****	5.09	5.36	-0.69
2008	-3.04	-7.47	-9.29	-22.00
2009	-16.88	-12.29	-7.87	-1.11
2010	9.77	-4.93	-4.93	3.39 <sup>39</sup>

### ATLANTIC CITY GAMBLING REVENUE: PERCENTAGE CHANGE FROM PREVIOUS YEAR

2007\$4,920,786-5.69%2008\$4,544,961-7.64%2009\$3,943,171-13.24%2010\$3,565,047-9.59%2011\$3,317,720-6.94%40

We do not believe that casino gambling will ever be as large a percentage of the Miami economy as it is in Las Vegas and Atlantic City. However, tourism is very important in the Miami economy, and tourism in general is as vulnerable to economic cycles as gambling is. Consequently, whether or not destination casinos come to Miami, we should do what we can to broaden our economic base and make it less vulnerable to cyclical variations.

### X. EXPLOITATION OF THE POOR

Casino gamblers tend to be more affluent and better educated than the average American, particularly in upscale destination casinos which by definition require long trips and overnight stays. However, the gamblers at low-stakes racinos, Internet sweepstakes cafes and lotteries tend to be poorer and less well educated that the average American.

A study that looked at South Carolina found: "People with lower incomes spend more on the lottery, as well as spending a larger share of their income on the lottery. "A household making under \$12,400 spends five percent of its gross income playing the lottery, while a household earning ten times as much (\$124,000) spends just 0.33% of its income on the lottery." "Black individuals make up 19.7% of [South Carolina's] population, but are 23.2% of lottery players and 38.4% of frequent players." People living in low-income neighborhoods are more than ten times as likely to have gambling problems as people living in high-income neighborhoods.<sup>41</sup> However, what we are discussing in Florida today are casinos aimed at high-income people from outside the state.

### XI. HELPING LOCAL PEOPLE THROUGH CASINO REVENUES AND EMPLOYMENT

Bright Futures scholarships are funded by the Florida Lottery which is thus disproportionately taxing low-income individuals to give scholarships to young people who mostly come from high-income families. If Florida decides to allow destination casinos, then we should do what we can to ensure that these attract mostly high-income customers from out of state, and we should make sure that the destination casinos provide all of the assistance possible for low-income Floridians. We recommend a strong tilt toward low-income, local people in hiring. Individuals with one non-violent felony conviction should not be excluded from blue-collar casino jobs.

We would like the taxes from all forms of gambling in Florida to be used to build up industries that can provide well-paid jobs to ordinary workers. In particular, we would like to use taxes on destination casinos to help establish a stronger high-technology industry in the state.

### **XII GAMBLING ADDICTION**

Pathological gambling is defined by mental health professionals as being out of control and unable to stop gambling. Serious problems can develop in relationships and finances as a result of pathological gambling.<sup>42</sup> A meta-analysis study by Volberg at Harvard in 2001 discovered that 1.6% of adults are pathological gamblers at some point in their lives and 1.1% were pathological gamblers within the past year.<sup>43</sup> The National Opinion Research Center of the University of Chicago did a study for the federal government which came out as the report of the National Gambling Impact Study Commission in 2000. They found that 1.2% of the entire adult population are pathological gamblers and 1.5% are problem gamblers. The difference is based on how many items on a questionnaire a person marked as indicating difficulties with gambling. As far as we know, this is the most definitive study of gambling addiction to date. Pathological gambling can be tragic for afflicted individuals, but the percentage of the total adult population with this problem is not high.

More efforts are necessary to deal with problem gambling among special populations: lowincome people; Blacks; and young people, particularly college students. Florida requires each Indian casino and racino to contribute \$250,000 per facility to organizations which counsel problem or addicted gamblers. Unfortunately, as a result of decisions of the governor, the state has not been spending this money on its intended purpose, and the Florida Legislature also cut funding for counseling gambling addicts in 2011.<sup>44</sup>

A meta-analysis of research studies finds that treatment for pathological gambling addiction is generally successful in both the short term and the long term. <sup>45</sup> Cognitive Behavioral Therapy has been found to be generally effective in treating pathological gambling.<sup>46</sup>

### XIII. PERSONAL BANKRUPTCY AND CASINOS

The presence of a casino in a county tends to increase annual personal bankruptcy rates by 5%, and the bankruptcy rate continues to increase until at least the 13<sup>th</sup> year after casinos were introduced to a county.<sup>47</sup> A 78% increase in personal bankruptcies took place in several states which added gambling between 1990 and 1997, but even in the last year of the study, a mere 0.7% of adults went bankrupt. Gambling might be causing more bankruptcies, but very few people are going bankrupt.<sup>48</sup> The main cause of personal bankruptcy is not gambling, but the loss of a job or high medical expenses for a working-class family with heavy consumer debts.<sup>49</sup> Earl Grinols cites a study from Wisconsin which

found that bank ruptcies caused primarily by gambling debts increased from 5% to 10% of all bank ruptices.  $^{50}$ 

## XIV. COMPARING RATES OF PROBLEM GAMBLING FROM ONE GAME TO ANOTHER

Based on calls to a help line for problem gamblers in the United Kingdom, the game causing the most difficulty was slot machines (45% of the calls), followed by off-course betting (37%), casino gambling (11%), scratchcards (2%), the lottery (1%) and other forms of gambling, including spread betting, bingo and cards (4%).<sup>51</sup> In the United States and Canada, the most addictive form of gambling is widely considered to be video lottery terminals (VLTs).

Research indicates that young, unemployed males from the lower social class are the most likely group to have gambling problems associated with video lottery terminals.<sup>52</sup> In one study in Canada, 9.3% of video lottery terminal players were found to be problem gamblers. They liked the "speed of play, excitement, ease of access, availability and convenience of play." The noise and lights of the machines helped to create excitement.<sup>53</sup>

If we wanted to diminish gambling problems in Florida, the place to start would be with the sweepstakes Internet cafes which have machines like electronic slot machines (video lottery terminals) and appeal to lower-income people. Machines like electronic slot machines in neighborhood locations cause more financial damage to low-income people than any other forms of gambling. We note, however, that companies that make software and hardware for sweepstakes cafes contribute half a million dollars per campaign season to Florida politicians.

Sweepstakes games are very different in how they make their payouts. The player is entering a sweepstakes and can find out immediately if she or he won without playing the game at all. However, that would be no fun. Video lottery terminals involve real games whose outcome is not known in advance. Sweepstakes games and video lottery terminals have many points in common. Both are played on computer screens. Both can be fast-paced. Both can have bright lights and noises. Both can have games that look like poker, keno or slot machines.<sup>54</sup>

It might be politically impossible to eliminate Internet sweepstakes cafes, but it should be possible to tax this industry at a fairly high rate. The state has no interest in promoting sweepstakes cafes by keeping their taxes low, whereas the state would have a legitimate concern to keep taxes reasonable on destination casinos because they attract tourists to Florida and boost the overall economy.

### XV. CRIME, PROSTITUTION, DRUGS AND CASINOS

Crime rates have gone up in many cities which have added casinos, but a lot of the increase is associated with population growth and large numbers of tourists, rather than with gambling per se. Ochrym argues that very little difference exists in crime rates in tourist cities with and without casinos. Tourists are targets for criminals, and destination casinos are part of tourism.<sup>55</sup> The same argument is put forward by Miller and Schwartz who say that the external costs of casino gambling are similar to those of major sporting events or fairs.<sup>56</sup> A study by Stitt, Nichols and Giacopassi of six new casino localities with six control localities which did not add casinos found that no consistent pattern of increased crime exists. In some new casino communities, the crime rate declined. The exact causes for increased or decreased crime are obscure. <sup>57</sup> The same unclear pattern was found in a review of the literature by Moufakkir for his study on crime rates in Detroit after casinos were introduced. No overall increase in crime occurred in Detroit in association with casinos.<sup>58</sup>

Grinols and Mustard found that crime increased slowly in a community after a casino was opened. Some 8% of crime in casino communities is attributable to gambling, and this costs the average resident about \$75 per year. This is the largest and most authoritative study of the relationship between casinos and crime.<sup>59</sup>

Police administrators in cities which have added casinos generally say that the increase in crime has been slight, and the increase in crime has mostly been of a nonviolent nature, such as embezzlement, bad checks, and prostitution. Police budgets have increased as a result of the taxation from the casinos, so local communities often feel that they are well able to control the increased crime which has occurred.

Many people who become addicted to casino gambling had already had other sorts of problems prior to the arrival of casinos, such as substance abuse or financial problems. Casinos are mostly not turning happy people into depraved gamblers. Likewise, many American cities that have added casinos were in poor economic conditions before they did so.

Neither Nevada nor New Jersey have had large-scale scandals in recent years with regard to the infiltration of their gambling industries by organized crime. Unlike the casinos of Macau, those in Las Vegas and Atlantic City do not seem to be heavily involved in laundering illegal money. Some small-scale money laundering has recently taken place in Las Vegas casinos.<sup>60</sup> However, organized crime in both cities is probably extensively involved in loansharking -- making illegal loans with very high interest rates to gamblers. Violence is often use in the collection of these debts.<sup>61</sup>

### PROSTITUTION

Prostitution is rampant around casinos, including in Atlantic City and Las Vegas. Casinos apparently often provide free prostitutes to high rollers. A large number of under-age prostitutes, both male and female, work in Las Vegas, and some of these are even under 16 years old.<sup>62</sup>

### DRUGS

Drugs are also very common among patrons of casinos – just as among patrons of many Miami nightclubs today. Destination casinos would not improve the moral tone of the community. However, from the opening of the Royal Palm Hotel in Miami in 1897, illegal gambling, drinking and prostitution have been important aspects of our local tourist economy. Drugs have been heavily associated with Miami nightclubs for decades.

### XVI. SUICIDES IN LAS VEGAS AND MIAMI

Some 2.6% of all deaths in Las Vegas are caused by suicide, as opposed to only 1.5% nationally. Among visitors to Las Vegas, suicide is the cause of 4.6% of deaths. Among people who die while away from home, people who die in Las Vegas while away from home are twice as likely to die from suicide as those visiting other places. One cause for this might be that some people consider that gambling in Las Vegas is their last chance for economic success. They were in a desperate situation before they arrived.

However, researchers have also found that Las Vegas has factors other than gambling that could help to account for their high suicide rates. Up until 2008, this is a new and growing city – a boom town -- with weak social ties and community support networks. As Emile Durkheim discovered over a century ago, anomie – the lack of strong social bonds – contributes to suicide.<sup>63</sup>

Miami is another city that already has a very high rate of population turnover and low levels of social cohesion and rootedness. Miami has the highest population mobility into and out of the city of any large city in the United States. Miami's high population mobility is discussed in the new book by Jan Nijman of the University of Miami, "Miami: Mistress of the Americas." Our city has among the highest turnover rates in the nation – people moving in and out of the county. Fortunately, Miami has a lower suicide rate than either the state or nation. Blacks and Hispanics generally have a lower suicide rate than Anglos nationally – perhaps due to stronger family ties.

Very wide differences exist in suicide rates for different neighborhoods in Miami-Dade County, from a high of 21.6 per 100,000 in Zip Code 33012 in Hialeah to a low of 5.8 per 100,000 in Zip Code 33177 in South Miami Heights and Richmond West. Low suicide rates are found in neighborhoods with mostly single-family homes and young parents with children. Higher suicide rates are found in neighborhoods with older residents.<sup>64</sup>

School-based suicide prevention programs have been very successful in Miami in reducing suicide rates among young people between 1989 and 2006.<sup>65</sup>

### XVII. WHAT IS THE BEST TAX RATE FOR DESTINATION CASINOS AND RACINOS?

Across the country, maximum tax rates on casinos range from 6.75% in Nevada to 55% in Pennsylvania.<sup>66</sup> States with high tax rates on casinos are generally not trying to attract outof state tourists their casinos. The casino companies support a 10% tax rate for Florida, but some legislators would like to see a 20% rate. A general agreement exists that the tax rate should be high enough to bring good revenues to the state, but low enough so that they attract large numbers of affluent tourists to the state. The current tax rate for racinos in Florida is 35% of net revenues. The political reality seems to be that racinos will probably get the same tax rate as the destination casinos.

The SEDC suggests that a 20-30% tax rate on net revenues should exist for both racinos and destination casinos. This might give the most revenues to the state. The same 20-30% tax rate might also be politically defensible for Internet sweepstakes cafes, although we believe that their tax rate should be 50% because of their addictive nature.

### XVIII. HOW TO SPEND THE TAX MONEY FROM GAMBLING

Some say that we could take the taxes from casinos and reinvest them in high-technology industry, but the experience with the Florida Lottery in 1988 indicates that the state cannot be relied upon to use gambling proceeds for designated social purposes. Very few Floridians would believe any promise that is made in advance about how casino tax dollars would be spent by the state.

Most people say that the Legislature would perhaps put gambling taxes into hightechnology-related investments, such as university research, but then take out an equivalent or greater amount from another aspect of the budget. However, many legislators in Florida want to develop a stronger high-technology sector in our economy, and revenues from casino taxes could help with this, even though this is not a good point to make in arguing in favor of authorizing destination casinos. *Once burned, twice shy*. Still, it would be very good for the state to spend the tax money on creating a more balanced economy.

### XIX. FUTURE COMPETITION IN GAMBLING

It is likely that destination casinos will be developed in areas of Florida outside of Dade and Broward in the future, even if only Dade and Broward are allowed to open destination casinos in the next few years. However, it is expected that Dade and Broward will have the most attractive casinos in the state for the foreseeable future. As a tourist business, gambling is subject to a certain degree of faddishness. A city can go out of fashion.

Most analysts expect that Florida would be able to attract considerable gambling business away from Las Vegas, especially from residents of the East Coast. We might become the fashionable gambling city for a time. International competition could also affect gambling in Miami. For instance, a news report says that a Chinese bank may finance a destination resort – including a large casino – in the Bahamas.<sup>67</sup>

Furthermore, Cuba may become democratic in coming years and develop an important gambling industry of its own that could be heavily competitive with Miami. This could cause some decline in the number of tourists visiting Miami, but this would not be likely to destroy our gambling industry. Miami did very well in the 1950s with regard to tourism without legalized casinos at a time when Cuba also had extensive gambling. We would probably do even better with destination casinos.

Miami will always have many things going for it besides gambling, including warm winter weather, glorious beaches, fishing, boating, nightclubs and fine restaurants. Our cultural offerings are constantly proliferating, including Art Basel Miami Beach and several new venues for opera, ballet and classical music. We are about to add two new museum buildings downtown. So even if Havana became the gambling city of the day, Miami should be able to hold onto a good tourist business.

### **XX RECOMMENDATIONS**

The SEDC is not recommending whether to allow destination casinos in Florida or not. This document intends to put forth objective facts and balanced opinions regarding destination casinos. Because the voters seem nearly equally divided on the issue and destination resort casinos may have a profound social and economic impact on our community, the SEDC recommends that a voter referendum on the issue be held.

## **RECOMMENDATIONS THAT APPLY WHETHER DESTINATION RESORT CASINOS COME TO MIAMI-DADE OR NOT:**

1. Tourism in general is a highly volatile industry. Recreational travel is a discretionary expenditure which is often foregone by families during recessions. Most jobs in tourism have relatively low skill levels and low wages. Miami-Dade County and Florida should strive to supplement tourism with other, more stable industries –

particularly knowledge-based industries with high skills and high wages. We recommend more intensive county and state joint efforts to promote high-technology industry, particularly biomedical research and biomedical manufacturing.

- 2. Neighborhood video lottery terminals, including Internet sweepstakes machines, are the most addictive form of gambling and particularly directed at low-income people. Consideration should be given either to banning such gambling or taxing it at a high rate, such as 50% of net revenues.
- 3. State and federal authorities should be very vigilant in enforcing laws against money laundering in our local gambling establishments, whether these are Indian-owned, racinos or Internet sweepstakes cafes. We need a very strong Florida gaming commission with teeth to enforce the law in a vigorous manner. No one with a criminal background should be an owner of a Florida gambling establishment or an employee in an executive job or a job that is directly involved with gambling. No one with close personal relations with criminals should be allowed to be an owner or a responsible executive in a Florida gambling establishment. Both Nevada and New Jersey have done a good job of preventing money laundering in their casinos over the past twenty years, and we believe that Florida could do as well as they have.
- 4. We should not exclude individuals with minor convictions for non-violent crimes from working in blue-collar and service jobs in Florida casinos because exclusion could have a negative impact on the employment of low-income people. Such jobs could include janitors and waiters, but not dealers. We should give prospective workers a second chance.

# **RECOMMENDATIONS IF FLORIDA DECIDES TO ALLOW DESTINATION RESORT** CASINOS:

- 5. If Florida decides in favor of destination resort casinos, their gambling operations should be taxed at the rate of 20-30% -- not 10% -- of net revenues. We believe that regardless of what they say now, the casino companies will build destination casinos in Miami even if they have to pay the 20-30% tax rate.
- 6. If destination casinos were allowed in Florida, they should be required to train and hire mostly local people as employees at all levels. They should be required to make special efforts to train and hire low-income people for entry-level jobs.

- 7. Destination casinos should be required to pay the full costs of infrastructure development (roads), extra police, counseling programs for problem gamblers and other social costs.
- 8. Destination casinos should be required to encourage their customers to patronize local businesses and cultural institutions (Adrienne Arsht Center, downtown museums) as much as possible.
- 9. Large, established hotels in South Florida which have already engaged in extensive renovations to be ready for casinos should be given first priority for licenses to operate destination casinos.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

In alphabetical order according to the last name of the first author:

John M. Barron, Michael E. Staten, and Stephanie M. Wishusen; The impact of casino gambling on personal bankruptcy filing rates, Contemporary Economic Policy, 2002.

http://ideas.repec.org/a/bla/coecpo/v20y2002i4p440-455.html

Mary O. Borg, Paul M. Mason and Stephen L. Shapiro; The Incidence of Taxes on Casino Gambling: Exploiting the Tired and Poor, The American Journal of Economics and Sociology, July, 1991

http://www.jstor.org/stable/3487274

R. B. Breen, Rhode Island Hospital, Department of Psychiatry; Rapid onset of pathological gambling in machine gamblers: a replication, April 2004. http://www.huvi.ee/articles/scientific/rapidonsetofpathologicalgambling/

Center for Gaming Research, University of Nevada at Las Vegas; Atlantic City Gaming Revenue: Statistics for Casino, Slot and Table Win, 1978-2010, January, 2011.

http://gaming.unlv.edu/reports/ac hist.pdf

Central Intelligence Agency, The World Factbook. Country Comparison: GDP Per Capita (PPP)

https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2004rank.html

Deepak Chhabra; Estimating Benefits and Costs of Casino Gambling in Iowa, United States, Journal of Travel Research, November, 2007

http://jtr.sagepub.com/content/46/2/173.full.pdf

Zach Coleman; Macao: all bets are on. Financial Times, May 26, 2011. http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/6d12dc76-86e7-11e0-92df-00144feabdc0.html

Committee on Regulated Industries, Florida Senate; Review Expansion of Casino Gaming in Other States, October, 2010. http://www.flsenate.gov/Committees/InterimReports/2011/2011-133ri.pdf

Eveline Danubrata; Genting Singapore shares surge on junket news, Reuters, March 23, 2012 <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/03/23/us-genting-idUSBRE82M07L20120323</u>

Sally Denton and Roger Morris; The money and the power: the making of Las Vegas and its hold on America; Knopf, 2001. Part of this book can be read on Google Scholar.

Jason P. Doiron and Donald B. Mazer; Gambling with Video Lottery Terminals, Qualitative Health Research, 2001 http://www.eou.edu/~idense/doironmazer.pdf

Roger Dunstan; Gambling in California, California Research Bureau; January, 1997 http://www.library.ca.gov/crb/97/03/crb97003.html#toc

Thomas A. Garrett; Casino Gambling in America and its economic impacts. Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, August, 2003. <u>http://stlouisfed.org/publications/research and data.cfm</u>

Thomas A. Garrett; Casino Gaming and Local Employment Trends, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, January-February, 2004. http://research.stlouisfed.org/publications/review/04/01/garrett.pdf

Thomas A. Garrett and Lesli S. Ott; Up, Up and Away: Personal Bankruptcies Soar!, The Regional Economist, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, October, 2005 http://www.stlouisfed.org/publications/re/articles/?id=346

David Giacopassi, Mark Nichols, B. Grant Stitt; How do casinos affect communities? Business Perspectives, Summer 1999 <u>http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi\_hb2998/is\_4\_11/ai\_n28736542/</u>

Mark Gillespie; Internet cafes keep popping up, but are they gambling or not? The Plain Dealer, Cleveland; May 30, 2011

http://blog.cleveland.com/metro/2011/05/sweepstakes cafes -- are they.html

Global Gaming Business; China Backs Bahamas Casino; September, 2010 <u>http://ggbmagazine.com/issue/vol-9-no-9-september-2010/article/china-backs-bahamas-casino</u>

Ted G. Goertzel and John W. Cosby; Gambling on Jobs and Welfare in Atlantic City, Society magazine, May-June, 1997. http://crab.rutgers.edu/~goertzel/AtlanticCityJobsandWelfare.pdf

Patricia Gooding and Nicholas Tarrier, A systematic review and meta-analysis of cognitivebehavioural interventions to reduce problem gambling: hedging our bets? Behavior Research and Theory, 2009. <u>http://www.mendeley.com/research/a-systematic-review-and-metaanalysis-of-cognitivebehavioural-interventions-to-reduce-problem-gambling-hedging-our-bets/</u>

Ernest Goss and Edward Morse; The impact of casino gambling on individual bankruptcy rates from 1990-2002; Social Science Research Network; 2005 http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=801185 Mark Gottdiener, Claudia C. Collins, David R. Dickens; Las Vegas: the social production of an all-American city, Blackwell, 1999. A book, some of which can be read on Google Scholar.

Steve Green, Despite Improvements, Las Vegas Economy Still Struggling, Las Vegas Sun, March 25, 2012. <u>http://www.lasvegassun.com/news/2012/mar/28/despite-</u> <u>improvements-las-vegas-economy-still-strug/</u>

Steve Green, Nevada retakes top spot as state with highest foreclosure rate, Vegasinc, May 16, 2012.

http://www.vegasinc.com/news/2012/may/16/nevada-retakes-top-spot-state-highestforeclosure-/

Steven Greenhouse; The big squeeze: Hard Times for the American Worker, Random House; 2008. A book based on New York Times reportage. <u>http://books.google.com</u>

http://www.nytimes.com/2004/06/03/us/organized-local-226-the-culinary-makes-las-vegas-the-land-of-the-living-wage.html

Mark D. Griffiths and Richard T.A. Wood; Lottery gambling and addiction: An overview of European research, Psychology Division, Nottingham Trent University <u>https://www.european-lotteries.org/data/info\_130/Wood.pdf</u>

Earl L. Grinols, Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits, Cambridge University Press; 2004.

Earl L. Grinols and David B. Mustard; Casinos, crime and community costs, The Review of Economics and Statistics, March, 2006.

http://www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1162/rest.2006.88.1.28

Sabine M. Grüsser and others; The addictive potential of lottery gambling. Journal of Gambling Issues, 2007

http://jgi.camh.net/doi/ref/10.4309/jgi.2007.19.5

Ben Harrison; Casinos and regeneration: The story so far (about destinationcasino in Manchester, UK), C4C Briefing Note, February, 2007 http://www.austgamingcouncil.org.au/images/pdf/eLibrary/3181.pdf

Hawaii Appleseed Center for Law and Economic Justice; Legalized gambling's effects on low-income individuals, January, 2012. http://hiappleseed.org/sites/default/files/Gambling%20attachment.pdf

Inside Asian Gaming blog; Experts cautious on impact of licensing two junket ops in Singapore. March 23, 2012. <u>http://www.asgam.com/news/item/1589-experts-divided-on-impact-of-licensing-two-junket-ops-in-singapore.html</u>

Tom Jacobs; Las Vegas a boom town for suicide; Pacific Standard; November 14, 2008 http://www.miller-mccune.com/health/las-vegas-a-boomtown-for-suicide-4116/ Mary Ellen Klas; Report: Problem gambling on the rise in Florida as lawmakers discuss expansions, Miami Herald, November 1, 2011

http://miamiherald.typepad.com/nakedpolitics/2011/11/report-problem-gambling-onthe-rise-in-florida-as-lawmakers-discuss-expansions.html

Guoqiang Li, Xinhua Gu, and Ricardo Chi Sen Siu; The impacts of gaming expansion on economic growth: A theoretical reconsideration, Journal of Gambling Studies, December, 2009. <u>http://www.springerlink.com/content/804x8v5x68847g42/</u>

Ng Kai Ling; Genting Singapore's Q1 profit drops 33%. Non-gaming business grows but gross gaming revenue falls by 19%, Straits Times, May 11, 2012 http://www.channelnewsasia.com/stories/singaporebusinessnews/view/1200506/1/.ht ml

Jamye Long, Cooper Johnson, and Jose Oakley; Changes Created by the Introduction of Legalized Gaming: A Review of the Tunica County, Mississippi Experience, Journal of Management Policy and Practice, 2011 <u>http://www.na-businesspress.com/IMPP/LongWeb.pdf</u>

Philip H. Loughlin and Clifton W. Panne; Gambling in Macau: A Brief History and Glance at Today's Modern Casinos, Focus on Geography magazine, May, 2010 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1949-8535.2010.00001.x/full

Phil Mattera; Meet the scandal-plagued billionaire behind Newt Gingrich (Sheldon Adelson), Facing South, Institute for Southern Studies, March 11, 2011. http://www.southernstudies.org/2011/03/voices-meet-the-scandal-plagued-billionairebehind-newt-gingrich.html

Harold Meyerson, Las Vegas as a Workers' Paradise, The American Prospect, December 11, 2003

http://prospect.org/article/las-vegas-workers-paradise

Miami-Dade County Injury Surveillance System, Miami-Dade County Health Department; Suicide in Miami-Dade County, 2007. <u>http://www.miamidade.gov/medexam/library/ISR\_FS\_Suicide2K7.pdf</u>

William J. Miller and Martin D. Schwartz; Casino gambling and street crime, Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, March, 1998. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable</u> Michael Mishak; Wilhelm's stand: Labor will rebuild middle class. Organizational fighting, he says, is a step toward private sector unionization, Las Vegas Sun, May 31, 2009 http://www.lasvegassun.com/news/2009/may/31/wilhelms-stand-labor-will-rebuild-middle-class/

Eugene P. Moehring and Michael S. Green; Las Vegas: a centennial history, University of Nevada Press, 2005. A book. Some of this is available on Google Scholar.

Omar Moufakkir; An assessment of crime volume following casino gambling development in the city of Detroit, UNLV Gaming Research & Review Journal, 2005. <u>https://wiki.umn.edu/pub/Carter/WebHome/Casino\_Crime\_in\_Detroit.pdf</u>

Harriet Newburger, Keith Rolland, John Wackes, all of the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia and Anita Sands; Atlantic City, New Jersey: the Bungalow Park/Marina District area, ARI Planning and Research, Inc., 2007. http://www.frbsf.org/cpreport/docs/atlantic city\_nj.pdf

New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Division of Labor Market and Demographic Research, Southern Regional Community Fact Book, Atlantic County Edition, October, 2006. http://slic.njstatelib.org/slic\_files/digidocs/901/l416984/l4169842006.pdf

New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Division of Labor Market and Demographic Research, Labor Market Information Update for July, 2012. http://lwd.state.nj.us/labor/lpa/content/lmiupdate.pdf

Mark W. Nichols, B. Grant Stitt, and David Giacopassi; Casino gambling and bankruptcy in new United States casino jurisdictions, The Journal of Socio-economics, 2000 http://www.business.unr.edu/faculty/nichols/research/casino%20gambling%20and%20 bankruptcy.pdf

Jan Nijman; Miami: Mistress of the Americas. University of Pennsylvania Press; 2010. http://www.as.miami.edu/geography/pdf/Miami%20Mistress%20of%20the%20America s-1.pdf

Ronald George Ochrym; Street crime, tourism and casinos: An empirical comparison, Journal of Gambling Studies, 1990; <u>http://www.springerlink.com/content/j31443121w41w396/</u>

Ståle Pallesen and others; Outcome of psychological treatments of pathological gambling: a review and meta-analysis. Addiction, 2005. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.01204.x/full

Ashley Powers; Hostages of child prostitution. Las Vegas social worker Marisela Quintero tries to help girls who have all but sold their souls to pimps. Los Angeles Times, October 6, 2011. <u>http://articles.latimes.com/2011/oct/06/nation/la-na-teen-prostitutes-20111007</u>

Vitor Quinta; Junkets 'encourage money laundering': Wiki cables, Macau Daily Times, August, 29, 2011 <u>http://www.macaudailytimes.com.mo/macau/28973-Junkets-encourage-money-laundering-Wiki-cables.html</u>

Reuters; Genting Singapore shares surge on junket news, March 23, 2012 <u>http://finance.yahoo.com/news/genting-singapore-shares-surge-junket-055837260.html</u>

Hal Rothman; Neon Metropolis: How Las Vegas Started the Twenty-first Century; Routledge, 2002. Some of this book is available through Google Scholar.

Brad Rolling, A game worth playing? The distributional effects of casino gambling: An emphasis on Iowa; University of Northern Iowa, 2001 http://business.uni.edu/economics/Themes/Rolling.pdf

Howard J. Shaffer, Matthew N. Hall, and Joni Vander Bilt; Estimating the Prevalence of Disordered Gambling Behavior in the United States and Canada: A Meta-analysis, Harvard Medical School; Division on Addictions December 15, 1997 <u>http://www.divisiononaddictions.org/html/publications/meta.pdf</u>

Harley Shaiken; Unions, the economy, and employee free choice. Economic Policy Institute, February 22, 2007 <u>http://www.gpn.org/bp181.html</u>

Bryant Simon; Boardwalk of Dreams: Atlantic City and the Fate of Urban America. Oxford University Press. 2005. A book.

John L. Smith; Macau gamble pays off but draws law enforcement scrutiny, Las Vegas Review Journal, March 13, 2011.

http://www.lvrj.com/news/macau-gamble-pays-off-but-draws-law-enforcement-scrutiny-117892979.html

Social and Economic Development Council, Miami-Dade County Department of Planning and Zoning, Planning Research Section; *An Overview of the Socio-Economic Condition of Miami-Dade County*, May, 2007.

Staten Island Advance; 22 charged in mob-controlled gambling, loansharking ring; November 18, 2009

http://www.silive.com/news/index.ssf/2009/11/22 arrested in mob sweep on st.html

B. Grant Stitt, Mark Nichols and David Giacopassi; Does the Presence of Casinos Increase Crime? An Examination of Casino and Control Communities, and Delinquency. April, 2003. http://cad.sagepub.com/content/49/2/253.short

Richard Thalheimer and Muktar M. Ali; The relationship of pari-mutuel wagering and casino gaming to personal bankruptcy, *Contemporary Economic Policy*, 2004 http://www.freepatentsonline.com/article/Contemporary-Economic-Policy/119600382.html United States Census Bureau; State and County Quick Facts 2011. http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/12/12086.html

University of Maryland Medical Center; *Pathological Gambling: An Overview* <u>http://www.umm.edu/ency/article/001520.htm#ixzz1uUZfkmhC</u>

Richard N. Velotta; Is Nevada still the national leader in gaming regulation?, Las Vegas Sun, December 19, 2011 <u>http://www.vegasinc.com/news/2011/dec/19/nevada-still-national-leader-gaming-regulation/</u>

Elaine Walker; Genting downscales in Miami as it attempts to expand its global brand; Miami Herald; July 22, 2012 http://www.miamiherald.com/2012/07/22/2906954/genting-downscales-in-miami-

<u>http://www.miamiherald.com/2012/07/22/2906954/genting-downscales-in-miami-as.html</u>

Yim King Penny Wan, Xin Crystal Li and Weng Hang Kong; Social impacts of casino gaming in Macao: A qualitative analysis, Tourism: An International Interdisciplinary Journal, 2011 <a href="http://www.iztzg.hr/en/publications/tourism/latest-issue/?clanakId=305&brojId=22">http://www.iztzg.hr/en/publications/tourism/latest-issue/?clanakId=305&brojId=22</a>

Dan Whitcomb and Deena Beasley; Canada money launderer shows holes in Vegas casinos; Reuters; November 17, 2009. <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2009/11/17/us-insider-vegas-idUSTRE5AG5QH20091117</u>

Jonathan A. Wiley and Douglas M. Walker; Casino Revenues and Retail Property Values: The Detroit Case, Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics, 2009 http://walkerd.people.cofc.edu/pubs/2010/DetroitJREFE.pdf

Chun Han Wong; Las Vegas Sands Sees No Need To Work With Singapore-Type Junkets – CEO, Dow Jones, April 25, 2012. <u>http://online.wsj.com/article/BT-CO-20120425-724409.html</u>

Frank J. Zenere and Philip J. Lazarus; The Sustained Reduction of Youth Suicidal Behavior in an Urban, Multicultural School District, *School Psychology Review*, 2009. http://www.nasponline.org/publications/spr/pdf/spr382zenere.pdf

#### ENDNOTES

<sup>1</sup> Deepak Chhabra; Estimating Benefits and Costs of Casino Gambling in Iowa, *United States, Journal of Travel Research*, November, 2007.

http://jtr.sagepub.com/content/46/2/173.full.pdf

<sup>2</sup> Politifact Florida; Anti-gambling group says South Florida slots didn't meet \$500 million tax revenue promise; Miami Herald; October 20, 2011. http://www.politifact.com/florida/statements/2011/oct/20/no-casinos/no-casinos-

group-claims-slots-tax-revenues-are-pal/

<sup>3</sup> Florida Senate, Committee on Regulated Industries, Interim Report, October, 2010 <u>http://www.flsenate.gov/Committees/InterimReports/2011/2011-133ri.pdf</u>

Seminole Hard Rock Hotel and Casino, Tampa, Frequently Asked Questions <u>http://www.seminolehardrocktampa.com/contact</u>

Florida Gaming: Raising Revenues with Fresh Laws, Southern Gaming and Destinations Magazine, Wednesday, April 7, 2010 <u>http://southerngaming.com/?p=9555</u>

Dara Kam; Crist, Seminole Tribe sign gambling deal that seems to offer winning hand for lawmakers; Palm Beach Post; April 7, 2010 <u>http://www.palmbeachpost.com/news/state/crist-seminole-tribe-sign-gambling-deal-that-seems-531295.html</u>

<sup>4</sup> U.S. Regulators Concerned About Vegas Bets on Chinese VIPs, by Samuel Rubenfeld, Wall Street Journal, September 20, 2012.

http://blogs.wsj.com/corruption-currents/2012/09/20/u-s-regulators-concerned-about-vegas-bets-on-chinese-vips/

<sup>5</sup> Harold Meyerson, Las Vegas as a Workers' Paradise, The American Prospect, December 11, 2003 <u>http://prospect.org/article/las-vegas-workers-paradise</u>

<sup>7</sup> Sally Denton and Roger Morris; The money and the power: the making of Las Vegas and its hold on AmericaKnopf, 2001. A book. Part of this can be read on Google Scholar.

Mark Gottdiener, Claudia C. Collins, David R. Dickens; Las Vegas: the social production of an all-American city, Blackwell, 1999. A book. Some of this can be read on Google Scholar.

Steven Greenhouse; The big squeeze: Hard Times for the American Worker, Random House; 2008. A book based on New York Times reportage. <u>http://books.google.com</u>

http://www.nytimes.com/2004/06/03/us/organized-local-226-the-culinary-makes-las-vegas-the-land-of-the-living-wage.html

Eugene P. Moehring and Michael S. Green; Las Vegas: a centennial history, University of Nevada Press, 2005. Some of this book is available on Google Scholar.

Hal Rothman; Neon Metropolis: How Las Vegas Started the Twenty-first Century; Routledge, 2002. Some of this book is available through Google Scholar.

<sup>8</sup> Steve Green, Despite Improvements, Las Vegas Economy Still Struggling, Las Vegas Sun, March 25, 2012.

http://www.lasvegassun.com/news/2012/mar/28/despite-improvements-las-vegaseconomy-still-strug/

<sup>9</sup> Steve Green, Nevada retakes top spot as state with highest foreclosure rate, Vegasinc, May 16, 2012.

http://www.vegasinc.com/news/2012/may/16/nevada-retakes-top-spot-state-highestforeclosure-/

<sup>10</sup> Center for Gaming Research, University of Nevada at Las Vegas; Atlantic City Gaming Revenue: Statistics for Casino, Slot and Table Win, 1978-2010, January, 2011. <u>http://gaming.unlv.edu/reports/ac hist.pdf</u>

Ted G. Goertzel and John W. Cosby; Gambling on Jobs and Welfare in Atlantic City, Society magazine, May-June, 1997.

Bryant Simon; Boardwalk of Dreams: Atlantic City and the Fate of Urban America. Oxford University Press. 2005. A book.

Harriet Newburger, Keith Rolland, John Wackes, all of the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia and Anita Sands; Atlantic City, New Jersey: the Bungalow Park/Marina District area, ARI Planning and Research, Inc., 2007. http://www.frbsf.org/cpreport/docs/atlantic city\_nj.pdf

<sup>11</sup> New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Division of Labor Market and Demographic Research, Labor Market Information Update for July, 2012. <u>http://lwd.state.nj.us/labor/lpa/content/lmiupdate.pdf</u>

<sup>12</sup> Jamye Long, Cooper Johnson, and Jose Oakley; Changes Created by the Introduction of Legalized Gaming: A Review of the Tunica County, Mississippi Experience, Journal of Management Policy and Practice, 2011 <u>http://www.nabusinesspress.com/IMPP/LongWeb.pdf</u>

<sup>13</sup> Sands bolsters Safeguards against Money Laundering, by Kate O'Keefe and Alexandra Berzon, Wall Street Journal, January 24, 2013

http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424127887323854904578261363501815322.htm l

Report: Las Vegas Sands stops international money transfers for high-end patrons, by Howard Stutz, Las Vegas Review-Journal, January 25, 2013 http://www.lvrj.com/business/report-las-vegas-sands-stops-international-moneytransfers-for-high-end-patrons-188382101.html

<sup>14</sup> Las Vegas Review Journal, March 14, 2011 <u>http://www.lvrj.com/news/macau-gamble-pays-off-but-draws-law-enforcement-scrutiny-117892979.html</u>

Macao: all bets are on, By Zach Coleman, Financial Times, UK, May 26, 2011 http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/6d12dc76-86e7-11e0-92df-00144feabdc0.html

Gambling in Macau: A Brief History and Glance at Today's Modern Casinos, by Philip H. Loughlin and Clifton W. Pannell, Focus on Geography, 28 MAY 2010 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1949-8535.2010.00001.x/full

<sup>15</sup> Ng Kai Ling; Genting Singapore's Q1 profit drops 33%. Non-gaming business grows but gross gaming revenue falls by 19%, Straits Times, May 11, 2012

Genting Singapore gets nod to operate junkets, By JOHN LOH, The Star, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, March 20, 2012 <u>http://biz.thestar.com.my/news/story.asp?file=/2012/3/24/business/10979462&sec=bu</u> <u>siness</u>

Genting Singapore shares surge on junket news, By Eveline Danubrata, Reuters, March 23, 2012 <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/03/23/us-genting-idUSBRE82M07l20120323</u>

Experts cautious on impact of licensing two junket ops in Singapore, Inside Asian Gaming, March 23, 2012 <u>http://www.asgam.com/news/item/1589-experts-divided-on-impact-of-licensing-two-junket-ops-in-singapore.html</u>

<sup>16</sup> United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Miami-Dade County, Florida, 2011 <u>http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/12/12086.html</u>

United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Broward County, Florida, 2011 http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/12/12011.html

United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Clark County, Nevada, 2011 http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/32/32003.html

United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Atlantic County, New Jersey, 2011 http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/34/34001.html

<sup>17</sup> List of countries by GDP (PPP) per capita <u>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2004rank.html</u>

<sup>18</sup>United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Miami-Dade County, Florida, 2011 <u>http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/12/12086.html</u> United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Broward County, Florida, 2011 http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/12/12011.html

United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Clark County, Nevada, 2011 http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/32/32003.html

United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Atlantic County, New Jersey, 2011 http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/34/34001.html

<sup>19</sup> Harriet Newburger, Keith Rolland, John Wackes, all of the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia and Anita Sands; Atlantic City, New Jersey: the Bungalow Park/Marina District area, ARI Planning and Research, Inc., 2007. <u>http://www.frbsf.org/cpreport/docs/atlantic city nj.pdf</u>

<sup>20</sup> Harriet Newburger, Keith Rolland, John Wackes, all of the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia and Anita Sands; Atlantic City, New Jersey: the Bungalow Park/Marina District area, ARI Planning and Research, Inc., 2007. <u>http://www.frbsf.org/cpreport/docs/atlantic\_city\_nj.pdf</u>

<sup>21</sup> Harriet Newburger, Keith Rolland, John Wackes, all of the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia and Anita Sands; Atlantic City, New Jersey: the Bungalow Park/Marina District area, ARI Planning and Research, Inc., 2007. <u>http://www.frbsf.org/cpreport/docs/atlantic\_city\_nj.pdf</u>

<sup>22</sup> United States Census, State and County Quick Facts, Atlantic County, New Jersey, 2011 http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/34/34001.html

New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Division of Labor Market and Demographic Research, Southern Regional Community Fact Book, Atlantic County Edition, October, 2006.

http://slic.njstatelib.org/slic\_files/digidocs/901/l416984/l4169842006.pdf

<sup>23</sup> Social and Economic Development Council, Miami-Dade County Department of Planning and Zoning, Planning Research Section; An Overview of the Socio-Economic Condition of Miami-Dade County, May, 2007.

Broward County: Florida's Second-most Populous County, Florida Legislature, Department of Economic and Demographic Research, 2011 http://edr.state.fl.us/Content/area-profiles/county/broward.pdf

Las Vegas: Economy, City-Data.com <u>http://www.city-data.com/us-cities/The-West/Las-Vegas-Economy.html</u>

Clark County Demographics, Clark County, Nevada , Department of Comprehensive Planning, March, 2007 <u>http://lasvegashome-sales.com/demographics.pdf</u> <sup>24</sup> Committee on Regulated Industries, Florida Senate; Review Expansion of Casino Gaming in Other States, October, 2010.

http://www.flsenate.gov/Committees/InterimReports/2011/2011-133ri.pdf

<sup>26</sup> Harriet Newburger, Keith Rolland, John Wackes, all of the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia and Anita Sands; Atlantic City, New Jersey: the Bungalow Park/Marina District area, ARI Planning and Research, Inc., 2007. <u>http://www.frbsf.org/cpreport/docs/atlantic\_city\_nj.pdf</u>

<sup>27</sup> Center for Gaming Research, University of Nevada at Las Vegas; Atlantic City Gaming Revenue: Statistics for Casino, Slot and Table Win, 1978-2010, January, 2011.

http://gaming.unlv.edu/reports/ac hist.pdf

<sup>28</sup> Ben Harrison; Casinos and regeneration: The story so far (about destinationcasino in Manchester, UK), C4C Briefing Note, February, 2007 <u>http://www.austgamingcouncil.org.au/images/pdf/eLibrary/3181.pdf</u>

<sup>29</sup> Thomas A. Garrett, Casino Gambling in America and its economic impacts. Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, August, 2003. http://stlouisfed.org/publications/research and data.cfm

<sup>31</sup> Earl L. Grinols, Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits; Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 22.

<sup>32</sup> Earl L. Grinols, Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits; Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 21.

<sup>33</sup> Earl L. Grinols, Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits; Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 32.

<sup>34</sup> Earl L. Grinols, Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits; Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 39.

<sup>35</sup> Earl L. Grinols, Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits; Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 69.

<sup>36</sup> Earl L. Grinols, Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits; Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 127.

<sup>37</sup> Earl L. Grinols III, David B. Mustard, and Cynthia Hunt Dilley; Casinos, Crime and Community Costs; Social Science Research Network; June, 2000.

http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=233792

<sup>38</sup> Deepak Chhabra; Estimating Benefits and Costs of Casino Gambling in Iowa, United States, Journal of Travel Research, November, 2007 <u>http://jtr.sagepub.com/content/46/2/173.full.pdf</u>

<sup>40</sup> Center for Gaming Research, University of Nevada at Las Vegas; Atlantic City Gaming Revenue: Statistics for Casino, Slot and Table Win, 1978-2010, January, 2011. <u>http://gaming.unlv.edu/reports/ac\_hist.pdf</u>

<sup>41</sup> Hawai'i Appleseed Center for Law and Economic Justice; Legalized gambling's effects on low-income individuals, January, 2012. <u>http://hiappleseed.org/sites/default/files/Gambling%20attachment.pdf</u>

<sup>42</sup> University of Maryland Medical Center; Pathological Gambling: An Overview <u>http://www.umm.edu/ency/article/001520.htm#ixzz1uUZfkmhC</u>

<sup>43</sup> Deepak Chhabra; Estimating Benefits and Costs of Casino Gambling in Iowa, United States, Journal of Travel Research, November, 2007 <u>http://jtr.sagepub.com/content/46/2/173.full.pdf</u>

<sup>44</sup> Mary Ellen Klas; Report: Problem gambling on the rise in Florida as lawmakers discuss expansions, Miami Herald, November 1, 2011 <u>http://miamiherald.typepad.com/nakedpolitics/2011/11/report-problem-gambling-on-the-rise-in-florida-as-lawmakers-discuss-expansions.html</u>

Committee on Regulated Industries, Florida Senate; Review Expansion of Casino Gaming in Other States, October, 2010.

http://www.flsenate.gov/Committees/InterimReports/2011/2011-133ri.pdf

<sup>45</sup> Ståle Pallesen and others; Outcome of psychological treatments of pathological gambling: a review and meta-analysis. Addiction, 2005. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2005.01204.x/full

<sup>46</sup> Patricia Gooding and Nicholas Tarrier, A systematic review and meta-analysis of cognitive-behavioural interventions to reduce problem gambling: hedging our bets? Behaviour Research and Theory, 2009.

http://www.mendeley.com/research/a-systematic-review-and-metaanalysis-ofcognitivebehavioural-interventions-to-reduce-problem-gambling-hedging-our-bets/

<sup>47</sup> John M. Barron, Michael E. Staten, and Stephanie M. Wishusen; The impact of casino gambling on personal bankruptcy filing rates, Contemporary Economic Policy, 2002. <u>http://ideas.repec.org/a/bla/coecpo/v20y2002i4p440-455.html</u> Ernest Goss and Edward Morse; The impact of casino gambling on individual bankruptcy rates from 1990-2002, Social Science Research Network, 2005 http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=801185

<sup>48</sup> Richard Thalheimer and Muktar M. Ali; The relationship of pari-mutuel wagering and casino gaming to personal bankruptcy, Contemporary Economic Policy, 2004 <u>http://www.freepatentsonline.com/article/Contemporary-Economic-Policy/119600382.html</u>

<sup>49</sup> Thomas A. Garrett and Lesli S. Ott; Up, Up and Away: Personal Bankruptcies Soar!, The Regional Economist, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, October, 2005 <u>http://www.stlouisfed.org/publications/re/articles/?id=346</u>

<sup>50</sup> Earl L. Grinols, Gambling in America: Costs and Benefits; Cambridge University Press; 2004. p. 140.

<sup>51</sup> Mark D. Griffiths and Richard T.A. Wood; Lottery gambling and addiction: An overview of European research, Psychology Division, Nottingham Trent University <u>https://www.european-lotteries.org/data/info\_130/Wood.pdf</u>

<sup>52</sup> Jason P. Doiron and Donald B. Mazer; Gambling with Video Lottery Terminals, Qualitative Health Research, 2001 (Video lottery terminals are very similar to "Vegas style slot machines." The difference is that the players are participating in a digital lottery, where the payout depends on how many other gamers are playing and how much they are betting.) http://www.eou.edu/~jdense/doironmazer.pdf

<sup>53</sup> Mark D. Griffiths and Richard T.A. Wood; Lottery gambling and addiction: An overview of European research, Psychology Division, Nottingham Trent University <u>https://www.european-lotteries.org/data/info\_130/Wood.pdf</u>

<sup>54</sup> Mark Gillespie; Internet cafes keep popping up, but are they gambling or not? The Plain Dealer, Cleveland; May 30, 2011 <u>http://blog.cleveland.com/metro/2011/05/sweepstakes\_cafes\_-- are\_they.html</u>

<sup>55</sup> Ronald George Ochrym; Street crime, tourism and casinos: An empirical comparison, Journal of Gambling Studies, 1990; <u>http://www.springerlink.com/content/j31443121w41w396/</u>

<sup>56</sup> William J. Miller and Martin D. Schwartz; Casino gambling and street crime, Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, March, 1998. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/1049334</u>

<sup>57</sup> B. Grant Stitt, Mark Nichols and David Giacopassi; Does the Presence of Casinos Increase Crime? An Examination of Casino and Control Communities, and Delinquency. April, 2003. <u>http://cad.sagepub.com/content/49/2/253.short</u>

<sup>58</sup> Omar Moufakkir; An assessment of crime volume following casino gambling development in the city of Detroit, UNLV Gaming Research & Review Journal, 2005. <u>https://wiki.umn.edu/pub/Carter/WebHome/Casino\_Crime\_in\_Detroit.pdf</u>

<sup>59</sup> Earl L. Grinols and David B. Mustard; Casinos, crime and community costs, The Review of Economics and Statistics, March, 2006 http://www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1162/rest.2006.88.1.28

<sup>60</sup> Dan Whitcomb and Deena Beasley; Canada money launderer shows holes in Vegas casinos; Reuters; November 17, 2009.

http://www.reuters.com/article/2009/11/17/us-insider-vegasidUSTRE5AG5QH20091117

<sup>61</sup> Staten Island Advance; 22 charged in mob-controlled gambling, loansharking ring; November 18, 2009 <u>http://www.silive.com/news/index.ssf/2009/11/22 arrested in mob sweep on st.html</u>

<sup>62</sup> Ashley Powers; Hostages of child prostitution. Las Vegas social worker Marisela Quintero tries to help girls who have all but sold their souls to pimps. Los Angeles Times, October 6, 2011. <u>http://articles.latimes.com/2011/oct/06/nation/la-na-teen-prostitutes-20111007</u>

<sup>63</sup> Tom Jacobs; Las Vegas a boom town for suicide; Pacific Standard; November 14, 2008 <u>http://www.miller-mccune.com/health/las-vegas-a-boomtown-for-suicide-4116/</u>

<sup>64</sup> Miami-Dade County Injury Surveillance System, Miami-Dade County Health Department; Suicide in Miami-Dade County, 2007. <u>http://www.miamidade.gov/medexam/library/ISR\_FS\_Suicide2K7.pdf</u>

<sup>65</sup> Frank J. Zenere and Philip J. Lazarus; The Sustained Reduction of Youth Suicidal Behavior in an Urban, Multicultural School District, School Psychology Review, 2009. <u>http://www.nasponline.org/publications/spr/pdf/spr382zenere.pdf</u>

<sup>66</sup> Committee on Regulated Industries, Florida Senate; Review Expansion of Casino Gaming in Other States, October, 2010. <u>http://www.flsenate.gov/Committees/InterimReports/2011/2011-133ri.pdf</u>

<sup>67</sup> Global Gaming Business; China Backs Bahamas Casino; September, 2010 <u>http://ggbmagazine.com/issue/vol-9-no-9-september-2010/article/china-backs-bahamas-casino</u>